Special Economy and Enterprise
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Date
Time
Venue

Wednesday 11 March 2020
10.15 am
Council Chamber, County Hall, Durham

Business
Part A
Items during which the Press and Public are welcome to attend.
Members of the Public can ask questions with the Chairman's
agreement.

1.

Apologies for Absence

2.

Substitute Members

3.

Declarations of Interest, if any

4.

Items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties, if any

5.

Selective Licensing - Progress: (Pages 3 - 32)
(i)

Report of the Interim Corporate Director of Regeneration and
Local Services.
(ii) Presentation by the Housing Team Leader and the Project Lead,
Regeneration and Local Services.
6.

Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chair of the meeting, is
of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration

Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

County Hall
Durham
3 March 2020

To:

The Members of the Economy and Enterprise Overview and
Scrutiny Committee:

Councillor M Clarke (Chair)
Councillor R Manchester (Vice-Chair)
Councillors E Adam, J Atkinson, A Batey, R Crute, S Dunn, D Hall,
T Henderson, J Higgins, P Howell, S Iveson, L Maddison, J Maitland,
R Ormerod, E Scott, P Sexton, H Smith, W Stelling, T Tucker, M Wilkes and
M Wilson
Co-opted Members:
Mr G Binney and Mrs R Morris

Contact:

Martin Tindle

Tel: 03000 269 713

Agenda Item 5

Special Economy and Enterprise
Overview and Scrutiny Committee
11 March 2020
Selective Licensing

Report of Geoff Paul interim Corporate Director of Regeneration
and Local Services
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide

Purpose of the Report
1

The purpose of this report is to update members of the Economy and
Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the progress made in
relation to Durham County Council’s business case for county wide
selective licensing and to inform members of consultation prior to a
presentation by Housing Solutions.

Executive summary
2

County Durham has approximately 241,600 residential properties
across 290 settlements. The county stretches from the North Pennines
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) in the west to the North
Sea Heritage Coast in the east.

3

The county has a dispersed settlement pattern of towns and villages
which is a legacy of the rise and fall of mining, steel and other heavy
industries. The housing offer in the county reflects issues of its postindustrial history. Whilst there are some beautiful places to live in the
county, with a mix of traditional, older housing and more modern family
accommodation which are well connected to labour markets and for
which very strong demand is clearly evident, there remains a general
oversupply of poorer quality terraced housing. In localised areas, this
stock can be subject to lower demand and can be associated with
higher than average proportions of longer-term empty properties.

Page 3

4

The Housing Act 2004 gave local authorities the powers to introduce
selective licensing of privately rented homes in order to tackle problems
in their areas that result from low housing demand and/or significant
anti-social behaviour. This means that landlords who rent out
properties in an area that is subject to selective licensing are required to
obtain a licence from the local authority for each of their properties in
order to rent them out.

5

Selective licensing is a discretionary scheme for local authorities and
covers privately rented properties. The Housing Act 2004 allows local
housing authorities to designate areas for Selective Licensing to support
the improvement of privately rented properties, providing certain
conditions are met.

6

In areas designated, landlords must apply for a licence if they want to
rent out a property, this includes landlords who rely on lettings agents to
manage their properties on their behalf. This means the council can
check whether they are a “fit or proper person” to be a landlord or letting
agent, as well as making other stipulations concerning management of
the property and appropriate safety measures. The stipulations are
listed in the licence conditions and the conditions are at the discretion of
the local authority although there are 5 mandatory conditions.

7

Failure to do this could result in a fine and/or a criminal conviction.
There are positive impacts for both tenants and landlords associated
with selective licensing in problematic areas.

8

In April 2015 additional criteria was introduced which extended the
conditions for designating an area to include: areas experiencing poor
property conditions; an influx of migration; a high level of deprivation;
and high levels of crime, thus enabling local authorities to make
effective use of selective licensing to address specific problems in
certain areas.

9

Under the amendments introduced in 2015, should a local authority
decide to make a designation that covers more than 20% of its
geographical area or more than 20% of the private rented stock, an
application to the Secretary of State will be required.

10

In January 2020 Durham County Council’s Cabinet agreed to the
proposed areas and to formally consult on these proposals over a 10week period. Then to receive a further report detailing the results of the
consultation exercise with a view to reviewing the proposals and
submitting a formal application to the Secretary of State to set up a
Selective Licensing Scheme in Durham.

Page 4

11

Arrangements have been made for John Kelly, Housing Team Leader
and Joanne Thompson, Project Lead to attend the meeting on the 11
March to provide a presentation focusing on:













What is Selective Licensing?
Selective Licensing Criteria
Why Selective Licensing?
Detail of private rented sector
Proposals, designations and areas included in proposals
Detail of anti-social behaviour
House prices
Deprivation
Licence conditions and fees
Penalties
Detail of consultation arrangements including online options
Next steps

A copy of the presentation is attached as Appendix 2.

Recommendations
12

The Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee is
asked to note and comment on the information provided in the report
and presentation.

13

That the comments made by members in relation to the Selective
Licensing proposals form the Overview and Scrutiny response to be fed
into the ongoing consultation.

Page 5

Background
14

The Housing Act 2004 gave local authorities the powers to introduce
selective licensing of privately rented homes in order to tackle problems
in their areas that result from low housing demand and/or significant
anti-social behaviour. This means that landlords who rent out
properties in an area that is subject to selective licensing are required to
obtain a licence from the local authority for each of their properties in
order to rent them out.

15

Selective licensing is a discretionary scheme for local authorities and
covers privately rented properties. The Housing Act 2004 allows local
housing authorities to designate areas for Selective Licensing to support
the improvement of privately rented properties, providing certain
conditions are met.

16

In areas designated, landlords must apply for a licence if they want to
rent out a property, this includes landlords who rely on lettings agents to
manage their properties on their behalf. This means the council can
check whether they are a “fit or proper person” to be a landlord or letting
agent, as well as making other stipulations concerning management of
the property and appropriate safety measures. The stipulations are
listed in the licence conditions and the conditions are at the discretion of
the local authority.

17

Failure to do this could result in a fine. There are positive impacts for
both tenants and landlords associated with selective licensing in
problematic areas. It can lead to:
 more reliable, longer term tenancies,
 better quality and safer property standards,
 fewer empty properties,
 reduced levels of homelessness,
 increased property and rent values,
 safer, more pleasant areas to live due to lower levels of crime,
littering and other anti-social activity.
Landlords have access to:
 help to deal with problem tenants,
 support and advice on how to be a better landlord,
 opportunities to join landlords' forums and be involved in the
development of future local initiatives.

Page 6

18

In April 2015 additional criteria was introduced which extended the
conditions for designating an area to include: areas experiencing poor
property conditions; an influx of migration; a high level of deprivation;
and high levels of crime, thus enabling local authorities to make
effective use of selective licensing to address specific problems in
certain areas.

19

Under the amendments introduced in 2015, should a local authority
decide to make a designation that covers more than 20% of its
geographical area or more than 20% of the private rented stock, an
application to the Secretary of State will be required.

20

For selective licensing to work effectively, it should form part of a wider
strategic approach to an area. Local authorities should ensure selective
licensing complements other measures where other measures alone
are not enough to tackle the underlying housing problems of a specific
area.

21

Selective licensing must be consistent with the Council’s overall housing
strategy and be co-ordinated with procedures for homelessness, empty
homes, anti-social behaviour and housing market renewal activity. The
authority must also demonstrate the role of other partners such as
police and social services in ensuring the designation reaches its goal.

22

A designation can run for a maximum of five years and the
administration of the scheme can be funded from the licence fee.

County Durham Housing in Context
23

County Durham has of approximately 241,600 residential properties
across 290 settlements. The county stretches from the North Pennines
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) in the west to the North
Sea Heritage Coast in the east.

24

The county has a dispersed settlement pattern of towns and villages
which is a legacy of the rise and fall of mining, steel and other heavy
industries. The housing offer in the county reflects issues of its postindustrial history. Whilst there are some beautiful places to live in the
county, with a mix of traditional, older housing and more modern family
accommodation which are well connected to labour markets and for
which very strong demand is clearly evident, there remains a general
oversupply of poorer quality terraced housing. In localised areas, this
stock can be subject to lower demand and can be associated with
higher than average proportions of longer-term empty properties.

Page 7

25

Long term empty properties can be clustered in particular locations,
tenures or even settlements. The council understands the impact that
long term empty homes can have on a community and will work to bring
stock back into use where possible.

26

It is recognised that without local or government funding to tackle
housing regeneration in deprived communities these areas will continue
to decline. Lack of funding is likely to constrain the ability of local areas
to respond to regeneration needs.

27

Prior to Large Scale Voluntary Transfers (LSVTs) in Durham social
housing stock was brought up to the decent homes standard then
following LSVT social housing providers have continued investment in
their stock and areas.

28

Following austerity savings in local government, the resource available
to services within the private rented sector (PRS) continues to reduce
and as a result, quality can lag in the PRS. Without any investment, it
will continue to do so.

29

A new Housing and Homelessness Strategy for County Durham was
published in 2019 This will show how the proposed selective licensing
will be co-ordinated with procedures for homelessness, empty homes,
antisocial behaviour and housing market renewal activity.

30

This application for selective licensing will demonstrate the role of other
partners such as police and social services in ensuring the designation
reaches its goal.

31

At recent town and villages regeneration meetings attended by the
Portfolio Holders for Economic Regeneration and Strategic Housing and
Assets, the issues within the PRS were consistently raised by local
Members.

Conditions for applying for a selective licence designation
32

The Housing Act 2004 (amended 2015) sets out the conditions required
for a selective licensing designation. The designation may be made if
the area to which it relates satisfies one or more of the following
conditions:





Page 8

low housing demand;
anti-social behaviour;
poor property conditions;
high levels of migration;

 high levels of deprivation; and
 high levels of crime.
33

In considering whether to designate an area for selective licensing on
the grounds of the above, consideration should be given to whether the
area has a high proportion of property in the private rented sector.
Nationally the private rented sector currently makes up almost 20% of
the total housing stock in England, according to the most recent English
Housing Survey of 2015/16.

34

In addition, when considering whether to make a selective licensing
designation the local authority must first identify the objective it intends
designation will help it achieve. It must also consider whether there are
any other courses of action available that would achieve the same
objective.

35

It is also important in any application to demonstrate how selective
licensing will work in partnership with other existing initiatives (e.g.
landlord accreditation). Selective licensing itself is not a stand-alone
tool.

36

Overall, the Government intends that selective licensing be used only
where absolutely necessary and whilst it is often seen as the only
solution in local communities, the criteria surrounding it means that it is
a complex and extremely time-consuming approach, but where
appropriately used it can be part of an overall solution to particular
challenges.

37

If the problems of anti-social behaviour are only associated with a small
number of properties, Special Interim Management Orders (SIMO)
should be considered rather than a selective licensing designation. This
authorises the council to take control of the residential property,
however, it should only be used as a last resort for the most problematic
of properties and only for one or two properties in a street, not for whole
streets of properties.

38

Once a SIMO has been made, the council effectively becomes the
temporary landlord of the premises concerned. Whilst it does not obtain
any interest in the property, it becomes responsible for its proper
management and for ensuring that any immediate health, safety or
welfare concerns are dealt with as soon as possible. Once a SIMO has
been made, the landlord may not become involved in the management
of the property or create tenancies or licences. However, the council
may only issue new tenancies and licences with the approval of the
landlord.

Page 9

39

SIMO’s are therefore only a single measure in the council’s response to
issues in the private rented sector.

Consultation requirements
40

In seeking to progress a selective licensing designation, local authorities
must take reasonable steps to consult persons who are likely to be
affected and consider any representations made in accordance with the
consultation. Consultation should include local residents, including
tenants, landlords and where appropriate, their managing agents and
other members of the community who live or operate businesses or
provide services within the proposed designation.

41

Consultation should be widely publicised using various channels of
communication. Once the consultation has been completed the results
should then be published and made available to the local community,
including a summary of the responses received and should demonstrate
how these have either been acted on or not, giving reasons.

42

Where selective licensing requires confirmation from secretary of state it
cannot come into force until three months after it has been confirmed by
the Secretary of State.

Proposed Selective Licensing in County Durham
43

Data has been considered from Durham County Council, Durham
Constabulary and Durham Fire and Rescue Service and has been
broken down into Middle Super Output Area (66 in total)

44

It is proposed that 43 of the 66 areas are to be designated as they meet
one or more of the conditions, this equates to approximately 65% of the
MSOAs or 75% of the PRS stock

45

The evidence focussed on low demand, anti-social behaviour and
deprivation and will not be considering and designations on the
conditions of migration, poor property conditions or crime. It if proposed
there will be four designations:

Page 10

(i)

Designation 1 – low demand

(ii)

Designation 2 – ASB

(iii)

Designation 3 – Low Demand & ASB

(iv)

Designation 4 – Deprivation

Consultation in County Durham
46

Extensive consultation will be undertaken and will include
representation at numerous venues and audiences:






47

Two Landlord events
A minimum of 21 drop in sessions for residents across
county to be held in customer access points and libraries
Attendance at planned meetings
Awareness raising of consultation & how people can take
part through social media
Formal letters to internal and external partners for example
Durham constabulary, social housing providers etc.

Feedback can be given on line at www.durham.gov.uk/consultation,
staff will be available at events to assist with the completion of surveys if
needed.

Next Steps
48

All responses to consultation will be analysed to inform a business case
to be presented to Durham County Council cabinet members in June
2020.

49

Following cabinet approval, the business case will be submitted to the
Secretary of State for consideration.

50

A selection of workstreams will be set up with both internal and external
partners to consider:
 Procedures needed to deliver a successful scheme
 Recruitment of staff
 Potential impact on partners

Background Papers






Evidence Report
Appendix A – Supporting statistical and geographical
information
Appendix B – Proposed licensing conditions
Appendix C – Proposed fees
Appendix D – Area profiles

Page 11

These documents can be found at:
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/22640/Consultation-on-licensing-ofprivately-rented-homes-in-some-areas-of-the-county

Other useful documents
Not applicable

Contact:

Page 12

Lynn Hall

Tel: 03000 265728

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications – Under the Housing Act 2004 the introduction of
Selective Licensing requires the Council to demonstrate that the conditions
triggering eligibility for the imposition of such restriction are applicable in all or
part of the area. If more than 20% of the Council’s area is to be the subject of
Selective Licensing, approval is required from the Secretary of State.

Finance - Interim measures to be funded from reserves. New licensing
activity will be funded from the licence fees, although any further issues
encountered will be flagged in the business case.

Consultation - Consultation required with staff, landlords, residents and
members.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty – Not Applicable
Human Rights – Not Applicable
Climate Change – Not Applicable
Crime and Disorder - The aim of this approach is to reduce crime and
antisocial behaviour in certain geographical areas.

Staffing - Within existing staffing resource until approval received from
secretary of state then recruitment will take place and funded from selective
licensing fees.

Accommodation – Fixed desk accommodation will be required for
approximately 35 staff and the remaining staff with “hot desk” within current
locations with enforcement staff potentially co locating with Durham
Constabulary.

Risk - The areas may decline if selective licensing designation is not
introduced. An application requiring Secretary of State approval might not be
approved. Landlords opposed to Selective Licensing could mount a legal
challenge

Procurement – Not Applicable

Page 13

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 2

Selective Licensing
John Kelly, Housing Team Leader
Joanne Thompson, Project Lead

Page 15

Page 16

What is Selective Licensing?
• Introduced under Part 3 of the Housing Act
2004
• Allows a local authority to designate either
part or the whole of its area for selective
licensing providing certain conditions are met.
• It applies to all privately rented properties
within a designated area and landlords will
need to apply to the local authority for a
licence.

Selective Licensing Criteria
• Low Housing Demand
• A significant and persistent problem caused by antisocial behaviour
• Poor Property Conditions
• High Levels of Migration
• High Levels of Deprivation
• High Levels of Crime
In addition for all conditions apart from low housing
demand and ASB the area must have high levels of
privately rented accommodation
Page 17

Page 18

Why Selective Licensing?
• Poor housing and management can lead to housing
market decline/failure
• Housing strategy – objective to improve the quality
and management of privately rented properties in
County Durham
• Better protect tenants
• Tackle poor landlords offering unsatisfactory
accommodation and poor management practices
• Provide support and training to landlords and tenants

Private Rented Sector Map

Page 19

0.0
Durham City
Annfield Plain South and South Moor
Horden
Dawdon and Seaham Harbour
Shildon
Leadgate North and Consett East
Spennymoor-Green Lane and Dean Bank
Easington Colliery North
Gilesgate Moor
Langley Moor and Nevilles Cross
Bishop Auckland and South Church
Chilton and Ferryhill Station
Esh Winning and Ushaw Moor West
Cornforth and Ferryhill
Murton South and South Hetton
Newton Aycliffe East
Newton Aycliffe Central
Blackhalls
Pelton and Grange Villa
Delves and Leadgate South
Annfield Plain North and Dipton South
Acre Rigg and Peterlee Central
Stanley North and Kip Hill
Craghead and South Stanley
Langley Park Cornsay and Satley
Bowburn and Shincliffe
Crook South and Willington North
Shotton Colliery
Bearpark and Witton Gilbert
Aycliffe Village Newton Aycliffe South
Easington Colliery South and Eden Hill
Framwellgate Moor and Pity Me
Byers Green and Spennymoor
St Helens Auckland and West Auckland
Burnopfield Dipton North and Tantobie
Cockton Hill and Etherley Dene
Thornley Deaf Hill and Wheatley HIll
Consett West and Castleside
Hutton Henry and Wingate
Sherburn and West Rainton
Chester-le-Street West and Pelton Fell
Coundon and Willington South
Cassop and Coxhoe
Sacriston and Waldridge
Fishburn and Trimdons
Dalton-le-Dale and Deneside
Brandon
Chester-le-Street South
Crook North Howden-le-Wear and Tow…
Henknowle and Woodhouse Close
Passfield and Shotton
Spennymoor North and Tudhoe
Barnard Castle and Startforth
Seaham North and Seaton
Hamsterley and Staindrop
Bournmoor and Great Lumley
Medomsley and Shotley
Beamish Ouston and Urpeth
Belmont and Carville
Lanchester
Stanhope and Wolsingham
Chester-le-Street North
Midridge and Woodham Village
Bishop Middleham and Sedgefield
Bowes and Middleton-in-Teesdale
Brasside and Newton Hall

% PRS

Page 20

PRS Statistics
% PRS

70.0

60.0

50.0

40.0

30.0

20.0

10.0

Proposals
• Data collected across the county
• Broken down by Middle Super Output Area (66 in
total)
• 43 areas included in the proposals as meet one
or more of the conditions (approx. 65% of the
MSOAs or 75% of the PRS stock)
• We will not be replying on the conditions of
migration, poor property conditions or crime
• Evidence focussed on low demand, anti-social
behaviour and deprivation
Page 21

Page 22

Designations

• Designation 1 – Low Demand
• Designation 2 – ASB
• Designation 3 – Low Demand & ASB
• Designation 4 – Deprivation

Map of all areas included in
proposals

Page 23

Page 24

Anti-social Behaviour

House Prices

Page 25

Page 26

Deprivation

Licence Conditions & Fees
• Mandatory conditions set by legislation
• Additional local conditions relating to
• Tenancy Management
• Property Management
• Anti-social Behaviour
• The licence fee is proposed to be
approximately £500 and payable in two parts
Page 27

Page 28

Penalties
• Landlords who fail to obtain a licence or
breach licence conditions could face
prosecution or civil penalty notice
• Rent Repayment Orders (RRO)
• Banning Orders
• Rogue Landlords Database

Consultation
• Extensive consultation
• 2 landlord events
• 21 drop in sessions for residents across county
• Attendance at planned meetings
• Raise awareness of consultation & how people
can take part
• Support and assist residents to “Have their Say”

Page 29

Page 30

We want to hear people’s views ….
Online at
www.durham.gov.uk/consultation
Or contact us on 03000 268000
selectivelicensing@durham.gov.uk

Next Steps …..
• Formal consultation
• Analyse the results of the consultation
• Feedback to everyone who took part
• Cabinet to make a decision on whether
to submit a business case to secretary
of state

Page 31

Page 32

Any Questions?

